CCASE:

SOL (MSHA) V. OLD BEN COAL
DDATE:

19920923

TTEXT:



~1656

Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssion
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR, DI SCRI M NATI ON PROCEEDI NG
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. LAKE 92-131-D
ON BEHALF OF
BILLY B. TAYLOR M ne No. 24
COVPLAI NANT
V.

OLD BEN COAL COWMPANY,

RESPONDENT
DECI SI ON
Appear ances: M quel J. Carnona, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U S. Departnment of Labor, Chicago, Illinois,

for Petitioner;
Gregory S. Keltner, Esq., O d Ben Coal Conpany,
Fai rvi ew Heights, Illinois, for Respondent.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a discrimnation conplaint filed by the
Secretary of Labor ("Secretary") on behalf of Billy B. Tayl or
under Section 105(c)(2) of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act
of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O 815(c)(2) ("Act" or "Mne Act"). The
conplaint alleges that Od Ben Coal Co. ("Od Ben") violated
Section 105(c)(1) of the Act when it suspended Tayl or from
enpl oyment for four days in retaliation for Taylor's protected
safety conplaints. (FOOTNOTE 1) The Secretary seeks by way of
restitution a
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finding that Od Ben's suspension of Taylor was the result of

unl awful discrimnation, back pay plus interest, benefits |ost
due to the suspension, and the expunging of all disciplinary
letters located in Taylor's enploynent records that relate to the
suspension. Finally, the Secretary proposes a civil penalty of
$1,250 for the alleged violation of Section 105(c)(1). O d Ben
admits that it suspended Tayl or but denies the disciplinary
action was notivated by Taylor's protected activity.

A hearing on the nmerits of the Secretary's conpl aint was
held in Evansville, Indiana. Post-hearing briefs were filed by
counsel for both parties.

STl PULATI ONS

At the commencenent of the hearing counsel for Od Ben read
the followi ng stipulations into the record.

1. The Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction over
t he proceeding.

2. Mne 24 is an underground bitum nous coal m ne.

3. During the cal endar year preceding the alleged
vi ol ation of Section 105(c) of the Mne Safety and
Heal th Act, M ne Nunber 24 had a production of
1, 250,636 tons of coal and the controlling entity had a
production of 14,918,109 tons of coal

4. Paynent of a penalty as provided by the Mne Safety
and Health Act, if a violation were found in this case,
woul d not affect the operator's abilities to remain in
busi ness.

5. During the twenty-four nonth period preceding the
al I eged viol ati on, Respondent had the follow ng history
of violations: (a) number of violations assessed, one
hundred ni nety-five; (b) nunmber of inspection days, two
hundred and three; (c) violations per inspection day
point nine-six . . . ; nunber of previous Section
105(c) violations, zero.
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6. On June 20, 1991, Respondent issued a Notice of
Suspensi on suspending Billy B. Taylor from his enpl oynent
wi t hout pay on June 18 through June 21, 1991.

7. On June 21, 1991, Billy B. Taylor filed a
di scrimnation conplaint with the Mne Safety and
Heal th Adm ni stration subdistrict in Benton, IIlinois.

Tr. 10-11.
COVPLAI NANT' S CASE

Billy B. Taylor and Terry Koonce were called to
testify. (FOOTNOTE 2)

BI LLY B. TAYLOR

Tayl or testified that he began working for Od Ben in 1975
and since has continued in Od Ben's enploy. (FOOTNOTE 3) At all tines
pertinent to this case, Taylor stated that he worked at M ne No.
24 as a longwall prop man. Tr. 56-57. On June 18, 1991, Tayl or
was working on the 4:00 p.m to 12:00 a.m shift (the "afternoon
shift"). At the start of the shift, Taylor was sent to an area of
the m ne where the work of setting up a longwall was in progress.
Taylor's imedi ate responsibility was to assist in assenbling a
| ongwal | stage | oader. However, when it was discovered that al
of the tools necessary for the job were not on the unit, Taylor
was instructed by his i mediate supervisor to drive in the manbus
to another unit and there to get the needed tools. Sheer operator
Dennis Parkhill was told to acconpany Taylor. The unit where the
men were instructed to go was one where a |l ongwall was being
di sassenbl ed and noved (a "recovery unit"). Tr. 58.

Upon reaching the mouth of the recovery unit, Taylor and
Par khill encountered what Tayl or described as a "massive
bl ockage" of the entry. Tr. 59. According to Taylor, "[T]here was
. trucks, scoops and di esel scoops and everything. W
couldn't go any further. We were stuck there.” Id. At this point,
Parkhill got out of the manbus and wal ked the main travel way.
When he returned to the manbus he told Taylor that the entry was
bl ocked, that up ahead nmen were trying to transfer
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a longwall shield froma dolly onto a scoop and that he and
Tayl or could not proceed further. Tr. 60.

Tayl or stated that he and Parkhill sat in the manbus
approximately 20 m nutes, at the end of which tinme they were
approached by Ronald Smart, the section boss of the recovery

unit. Taylor asked Parkhill if he had observed any vehicles that
could be used for transportation outby in case of an energency,
and Parkhill indicated he had not. Tayl or then asked Smart, "Hey

Ron, did [sic] you have any kind of transportation outby this
mess[?]" Tr. 61. Taylor testified that Smart did not answer and
that he again asked Smart the same question. Taylor stated that
once again Smart did not respond but rather wal ked around the
corner of a rib where Taylor could not see him According to

Tayl or, he got out of the manbus and wal ked to where he could see
Smart, and he asked Smart, this time in a | ouder voice, "Have you
got any transportation outby?" Id. Smart turned and cane toward
Tayl or, and Tayl or said again, "[H ave you any transportation

out by?" 1d. According to Taylor, Smart pulled out a notebook and
said, "I'mtelling you to work, are you refusing to work, if you
are |'mgoing to stop your time and send you out of the mine."
Tr. 62. Taylor replied that he was not refusing to work, that
everyt hing was bl ocked and he could not do anything. Taylor also
stated that he may have agai n asked about transportation outby,
and that Smart replied in a | ouder tone for Taylor to get in the
manbus and to |l eave the area. Tr. 62. (FOOTNOTE 4)

Shortly thereafter the travel way was opened and Tayl or
testified that he stepped into the manbus and told Smart, "This
is not over . . . W'Il settle it on top if | have to get the
Uni on, Federal, and State involved."” Tr. 63, See also Tr.
76. (FOOTNOTE 5) Smart then came toward Taylor and told himto get off
the manbus, that Smart was stopping Taylor's tinme and was sending
Tayl or out of the mine. Id.

Tayl or testified that he then asked Parkhill to take him
back to the unit from whence they had come so that Taylor could
retrieve his dinner bucket. Smart told Taylor to stay put, and
Smart sent for the acting mne manager, Joe Ronchetto.

When Ronchetto arrived, Taylor stated that Smart expl ai ned
that he had stopped Taylor's tinme and that Taylor had threatened
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him Tayl or claimed he responded, "I said, what [?]," and Snart
repeated that Taylor had threatened him Tr. 65. Ronchetto then
t ook Taylor out the m ne.(FOOTNOTE 6)

Tayl or mai ntai ned that during the June 18 incident he never
refused a direct work order from Snart, that his work at that
time involved being in the manbus and that he was right where he
shoul d have been. Tr. 66. Further, Taylor nmmintained that during
the incident he did not direct abusive | anguage at Smart,
al t hough, at some point during the exchange, he may have pl aced
his hands in a prayer-like position and said, "Please, please
send nme out of the mne." He explained that if he had said it, to
Smart it was "in a situation in the mne where . . . Smart was
very belligerent toward ne and trying to nake nme feel that |
didn't have the right to ask any of the questions, and it was
just ny way of saying . . . you don't have to badger ne." Tr. 67.

Tayl or cl ai med that when he inquired of Smart whether there
was transportation outby he did so out of concern for the safety
of hinself and his fellow nmners. As a former union safety
commi tteeman he was aware that past practice at the mne was to
have such transportation avail abl e when heavy equi pnment -- such
as longwall shields -- was being noved. The transportati on was on
the scene because of the possibility that the transporting
equi pnent coul d break down. Tr. 68-69. He expl ai ned that outby
transportati on was needed because if soneone was injured and the
travel way was obstructed by broken down equi prent, the injured
person coul d be placed on the outby transportati on and be quickly
removed fromthe nmine. Tr. 84-86
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In addition, Taylor stated that prior to and at the beginning of

the afternoon shift on June 18, the underground tel ephone system
had been working only intermttently. When he and Parkhill [left
their section, the phones were not working. When they arrived in
the vicinity of the blockage, they saw a nman repairing a

t el ephone, and he told them he thought the phones now had been
fixed. Tr. 66. Taylor stated that the unreliability of the

t el ephone system on June 18 added to his safety concerns and nade
it even nore inportant to have transportation outby, since if
someone were hurt, a telephone call to the top for assistance
could not be assured. Tr. 84, 101-102.

Once Taylor was on the surface, he stated that he was told
by the union safety conmtteeman at the nmine to go honme and that
the committeeman would see if he could find out "what's going
on." Tr. 78. When Taylor did not hear fromthe safety
committeeman, Taylor returned to the mne on June 19 and the
committeeman told Tayl or that Taylor had to talk to M ne
Superi nt endent Koonce before Taylor could return to work. Tayl or
stated that this lead to a brief discussion between hinmself and
Koonce in which Koonce stated that there were serious charges
agai nst Tayl or (Tayl or thought Koonce said "You threatened your
boss.” Tr. 79.) and that Koonce would have to further investigate
the charges. Tr. 79.

The foll owi ng day, according to Taylor, he net with Koonce
and others at the m ne. Taylor stated that he did not renenber
everything that was said because the neeting went "on and on" but
as best he could recall, Koonce said that Taylor had been charged
wi t h abusive | anguage, threats to Smart and his fanmly and
refusing a direct work order. Tr. 81-82. Koonce also told Tayl or
that the charges were "founded." Tr. 81. At the close of the
meeti ng, Koonce handed Taylor a |etter advising Taylor he was
suspended from June 18 to June 21. (FOOTNOTE 7)
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DENNI S PARKHI LL

Parkhill essentially corroborated Taylor's testinony. He
stated that subsequent to being assigned to assenble a
st agel oader for a longwall section, he and Tayl or were asked to
take the manbus and to go to the longwall recovery unit to get
some missing tools. Tr. 111. Parkhill testified that he and
Tayl or proceed to the mouth of the recovery unit where Parkhil
found mners in the process of taking a shield off the shield
dolly and loading it onto a scoop and where the route they had to
travel was bl ocked. Therefore, he and Taylor were forced to wait
until the roadway cleared. Tr. 113-114.

Parkhill stated that after he found that the roadway was
bl ocked, Tayl or several tinmes asked Smart if transportati on was
avail abl e on the outby side, and that Smart ignored the
gquestions. Parkhill also stated that Smart directed Taylor to get
into the manbus and to | eave, which Taylor and Parkhill could not
do because the roadway was bl ocked, and that ultimtely Smart
told Taylor that his time was being stopped and that he was being
sent out of the mine. Tr. 114.

After the roadway opened, Smart directed Parkhill to get the
tools, which Parkhill did. Tr. 123.

TERRY N. KOONCE

M ne Superintendent Koonce stated that he was not present at
the June 18 incident but that he investigated it by discussing
the matter with Taylor and Smart. Koonce said that he did not
i nterview Parkhill because Parkhill stayed on the manbus and did
not come into the area where the conversation between Tayl or and
Smart took place. Tr. 24, 28. According to Koonce, the
conversation between Taylor and Smart concerned whet her or not
the tel ephones were operational and Taylor's concern that the
travel way may have been bl ocked. Koonce believed that Smart told
Tayl or that the travel way was not bl ocked and to go back to the
manbus and to his work assignment. Koonce stated that this
conversation was repeated several times. Tr. 18.

Koonce mai ntai ned that by continui ng questioni ng about the
roadway after having been told it was not blocked, Taylor was
i nsubordi nate. Tr. 19. Koonce al so nmi ntained that Taylor told
Smart he woul d go back to the manbus "whenever he got good and
G D ready." Tr. 21. Koonce further stated that during the
conversation Taylor held his hands in a praying fashion in front
of Smart's face and said, "[P]lease take ne our of the mne
pl ease take me our of mne." Tr. 19. Koonce ternmed this
"threateni ng or abusive" | anguage and stated that the use of such
| anguage was a violation of Od Ben's work rules. Id.
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Finally, according to Koonce, after Taylor was told by Smart that

his time had been stopped, Taylor made statenents to Smart in
whi ch he threatened Smart's famly and said he woul d damage
Smart's personal vehicle. Koonce agreed however that Tayl or
deni ed maki ng these statenents. Tr. 26.

In Koonce's view, the fact that Taylor got "in the section
foreman's face with his hands in a praying notion during [the]
heat ed conversation [and said], ["]Please take ne out of the
m ne, please take me out of the mne[']," was an action
sufficiently abusive to warrant Taylor's suspension. Tr. 31
Koonce further explained that Tayl or was disciplined for the way
in which he spoke to Smart and for his nmotions, "I just don't
think that it's right that an enpl oyee or an enployer has to get
up in sonmeone's face, nose to nose, and act in that kind of
manner. It's just not professional." Tr. 50. He further stated
that he believed that Taylor had no reason to start the
conversation because Taylor was not even in his own work area at
the tinme. Id. Taylor was not discharged because "he hadn't had
that nmuch [prior] discipline.” Tr. 36.

Koonce stated that, in general, if there is one way in and
out of an area and the way is bl ocked, then transportation nust
be provided on the outby side, regardless of whether or not
t el ephones are working. Koonce further acknow edged that at M ne
No. 24, once or twice a nonth, a rockfall would block a travel way
and that two or three tines a week a piece of equi pnent woul d
break down and bl ock the travelway. Tr. 51. However, Koonce
mai ntai ned that in this particular instance, outby transportation
was not required because the equiprment in the travel way was
operational and energized, and it would have taken but "a nmatter
of mnutes" to nove it out of the way. Tr. 36, 39-40.

Wth regard to Taylor's safety concerns, Koonce agreed that
Tayl or was questioni ng whether the type of transportation
required by Section (0)(4) of the Bitum nous Wage Agreenent of
1988 was available. Tr. 43.(FOOTNOTE 8)

Finally, regarding the incident of June 17, Koonce stated
that Taylor's scoop could have inadvertently pinned Smart and
that no separate internal investigation was taken by O d Ben in
response to the incident. Tr. 49.
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RESPONDENT" S CASE

Joe Ronchetto, David Stritzel, Mark Cavi nder, and Ronal d
Smart were called to testify.

JOE RONCHETTO

Ronchetto stated that on June 18, 1991, he was the Acting
M ne Manager in charge of production at Mne No. 24. He al so
stated that at approximately 9:00 p.m, while underground, he
received a call from Smart requesting that he, Ronchetto, conme to
the nouth of the recovery area. \Wen he reached the area, Smart
told himthat Taylor and Smart had gotten into a dispute and that
Smart had stopped Taylor's tinme because Tayl or had refused two or
three direct orders to return to work. Ronchetto added t hat
Tayl or denied he had refused to return to work. Tr. 138.
Ronchetto al so stated that he asked Taylor if any equi pnent had
broken down, that Taylor said he did not know, and that Ronchetto
responded, "If we don't have anything broken down we're not
required to have a ride outby.” Tr. 138-139, see also Tr. 140.
Ronchetto added that if shields were being noved, outby
transportation was not required. Tr. 140.

Ronchetto descri bed Tayl or as a good worker who usually
foll owed orders "very well." Tr. 141.

DAVI D STRI TZEL

Stritzel, the Director of Health and Safety for Ziegler Coa
Conpany, stated that he is involved in the majority of direct
contacts between MSHA, the state inspection agency and the
conpany. He testified that he was not contacted by anyone from
MSHA or the state regarding the issue of whether transportation
is required outby while shields are being | oaded. Tr. 143.

MARK CAVI NDER

Cavi nder, the manager of three O d Ben nmines, including Mne
No. 24, stated that he has the "final say" on whether discipline
will be inplemented at the mines. In that capacity he revi ewed
Tayl or's case and agreed that a four day suspensi on was
appropriate. Cavinder stated that Taylor was disciplined because
of the manner in which he approached Smart, specifically for
failing to conply with a direct work order to return to work and
for intimdating-type remarks. Tr. 149-150. He further stated
that al though a supervisor typically is required to respond to a
guestion concerning safety, in this instance he woul d not
second- guess Smart, who, he believed, was trying to defuse a
hostile situation. Tr. 157. He added that to conply with the work
order all Taylor would have had to do was to return to the
manbus. Tr. 160.
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Further, he stated that in the usual situation, transportation is

not required outby when | ongwall shields are being noved, and
that the nonentary 5 to 10 minute interruptions in the use of a
travel way when noving shields are not considered bl ockages
requi ring outby transportation. Tr. 151, 160.

RONALD SMART

Smart first testified about the incident on June 17. Smart
stated that on June 17 he had concerns about how shields were
bei ng unl oaded, and he di scussed his concerns with Taylor's
foreman. Smart believed that the process was taking too |ong.
According to Smart, Taylor, who was there and who was running a
scoop, becane belligerent and cursed the conmpany and Smart. Smart
remenbers that Taylor insulted himthree tinmes before Smart
approached Taylor's scoop and asked Tayl or what he had said.
Smart said to Taylor, "What did you say?" and Tayl or responded,
"You heard me Goddamit." Tr. 168. At that point, Taylor started
the scoop and pinned Smart's |legs. Smart stated that as a result
he becane irate and had words with Smart's foreman over the
foreman's | ack of control of his workers. Smart al so stated that
he was reprimanded | ater for his conduct toward the foreman. Tr.
168.

Smart al so described the | oading of the shields on June 18.
Smart stated that two | arge diesel scoops were transporting the
shields fromthe old panel, down the travelway, to the point
where the shields were transferred to dollies. (The dollies were
being pulled by two smaller scoops.) The distance fromthe old
panel to the transfer point was approximtely 1,000 to 1,500
feet. Also, there was a battery powered scoop in the vicinity
that would | oad the shields onto the dollies. If the dollies were
not at the transfer point when the diesel scoops arrived, the
scoops would drop the shields off in the roadway and | eave. Tr.
169. The shields are steel and are approximately 5 to 6 feet w de
and 20 feet long. Tr. 171.

At the time of the incident with Taylor, the crew was
| oadi ng shields in the travel way. One of the smaller scoops was
| oaded and ready to go, but the scoop operator was eating dinner
One of the diesel power powered scoops arrived, and the crew
commenced to | oad the second dolly rather than put the shield on
the ground. Smart told the small scoop operator to pull the dolly
out of the travelway. Smart stated that at this tinme the
travel way had been bl ocked "maybe fifteen mnutes," Tr. 172, but
that if the travelway had to have been cleared this could have
been done in five mnutes. Tr. 182. (FOOTNOTE 9) Smart then observed
Tayl or
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com ng toward himdown the travelway. Tr. 172, 180. According to
Smart, when he first saw Taylor, Taylor was out of the nanbus.
Smart cl ai med he did not know why Taylor and Parkhill had stopped
the bus. Tr. 206.

Tayl or was no closer to 25 feet from Snart when he asked
Smart in a very loud voice, "Do we have a bus or truck outhby
where we're | oadi ng these shields?" Tr. 180. Smart expl ai ned,
"[With what happened the night before and the travel way no
| onger blocked I said, ["]Now Bill, go on, | don't want to argue
with you, go on back to your bus, got to work.["] Tr. 181-182.
According to Smart, Taylor responded, "I want to know if there's
a goddamm truck or a bus outby when you're | oading shields?", and
Smart replied, "Bill, I"'mtelling you, go back to work. The
travelway is no |onger blocked, I want you to go back to the bus
and go on about your job." Tr. 182, See also Tr. 184. (FOOTNOTE 10)
Tayl or responded that he woul d go when he got "a goddammed
answer," and Smart stated that he again told Taylor to go back to
the bus and to work. Id. It was at this point, according to
Smart, that Taylor clasped his hands about a foot from Smart's
face and stated "Please stop ny tinme, 1'll have your goddam
job.™ Tr. 183. After this statenent, Smart stopped Taylor's tine.

Smart testified that Taylor returned to the manbus and asked

Parkhill to take him back to the setup section to get his dinner
bucket. Smart told Taylor to remain in the area, and he told
Parkhill to |l eave and get the needed parts. Taylor responded that

since he was no longer on Od Ben's time, Smart could not tel
hi m what to do. Smart then called Ronchetto. Tr. 185.

After Parkhill |eft, and before Ronchetto arrived, a scoop
passed through the travel way, Smart stated he said to Taylor, "Is
that scoop broken down, isn't it going in the travelway, would
you consider [the travelway] blocked[?]". . . " Couldn't [the
scoop] get out of the way if something come up on it[?]" Tr.
188-189. Taylor replied, "Yeah, | guess," and Smart asked, "Why
do you think I have to have a scoop or transportation outby when
I"m | oading shields[?]" Smart testified that Tayl or responded
that "It could nmean his goddam |ife or sonmething.” Tr. 189.
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Smart stated that at this point he decided he could not reason
with Taylor, and he wal ked away from Taylor. Taylor followed him
and Smart began taki ng notes about what was said, as Tayl or
orally confronted Smart saying, "Go ahead and wite, you dumb
son-of -a-bitch, I can say what | want, |I'mno | onger on your tinme
and | ought to just knock your ass off right now " Tr. 189. Snart
testified that because he wished to "defuse the situation," he
tried to wal k away, but Taylor followed and said, "Smart, you're
inthis mne |ike the rest of us, and things can happen down here

toyou . . . or. . . at honme to your famly." Tr. 190.
Smart testified that at this point Parkhill returned, and
Taylor told Smart he was going to ride with Parkhill and retrieve

hi s di nner bucket. Taylor got into the manbus. Smart replied that
Tayl or was to stay. Taylor again said, "You can't tell nme what to

do, goddammit, I'mno |onger on your tinme." Tr. 191. Smart told
Tayl or that he would "ask about that when Joe [Ronchetto] gets
here." Id. When Ronchetto arrived, Smart explained to himthat

Tayl or had threatened Smart and his famly, had cursed Smart and
that Smart had stopped Taylor's time and wanted Tayl or renoved
fromthe mne. Tr. 192.

APPLI CABLE CASE LAW

In order to establish a prina facie case of discrimnation
under Section 105(c) of the Act, a conplaining mner bears the
burden of production and proof to establish, (1) that he engaged
in protected activity, and (2) that the adverse action conpl ai ned
of was notivated in any part by that activity. Secretary on
behal f of Pasula v. Consolidation Coal Conpany, 2 FMSHRC 2768
(1980), rev'd on other grounds sub nom, Consolidation Coa
Conpany v. Marshall, 663 F.2d 1211 (3d Cir. 1981); Secretary on
behal f of Robinette v. United Castle Coal Conpany, 3 FMSHRC 803
(1981); Secretary on behalf of Jenkins v. Hecla-Day M nes
Corporation, 6 FMSHRC 1842 (1984); Secretary on behal f of Chacon
v. Phel ps Dodge Corp., 709 F.2d 86 (D.C. Cir. 1982). The operator
may rebut the prinma facie case by showing either that no
protected activity occurred or that the adverse action was in no
way notivated by the protected activity. If an operator cannot
rebut the prima facie case in this manner, it may neverthel ess
affirmatively defend by proving that it was al so notivated by the
m ners' unprotected activity alone. The operator bears the burden
of proof with regard to the affirmative defense. Haro v. Magma
Copper Conpany, 4 FMSHRC 1935 (1982). The ultimate burden of
per suasi on does not shift fromthe Conplai nant. Robinette, supra,
See al so Boich v. FMSHRC, 719 F.2d 194 (6th Cir. 1982); Donovan
v. Stafford Construction Conpany, 732 F.2d 954 (D.C
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Cir. 1984) (specifically approving the Conm ssion's
Pasul a- Robi nette test). See also NLRB v. Transportation
Management Corporation, 462 U. S. 393, 397-413 (1983), (where the
Court approved the NLRB's virtually identical analysis for

di scrim nati on cases arising under the National Labor Rel ations
Act) .

Under this legal framework Taylor's asserted protected
activity nmust be analyzed in the context of the ongoing
circunstances in the mne as they appeared to Taylor at the tine,
provi ded al ways that his perception of those circunstances was
reasonabl e.

PROTECTED ACTI VI TY

Tayl or's safety conplaint allegedly arose out of his belief
that the travel way was bl ocked and thus that outby transportation
was required to facilitate the removal fromthe nine of any mner
who nmight have been injured. | fully credit Taylor's testinony
that he and Parkhill stopped the manbus at the mouth of the
recovery unit because of a reasonable belief that the entry was
bl ocked. Taylor's testinmony is corroborated by Parkhill's
uncontested statenment that Parkhill got out of the manbus,
surveyed the situation, and returned to report to Taylor that the
entry was bl ocked. Although Smart testified that he first saw
Tayl or approaching him his statenent is not necessarily
i nconsistent with Taylor and Parkhill's testinmony that Parkhil
left the manbus first to reconnoiter the entry. Smart hinself
testified that prior to seeing Taylor, the travel way had been
bl ocked, possibly for 15 mnutes, and although Smart al so
testified that he did not know why Parkhill and Tayl or had
st opped the manbus, Taylor's testinony that he believed he and
Parkhill could not proceed further is credible in |ight of the
work that was taking place in the entry.

Further, not knowing the length of time the bl ockage had

exi sted and woul d continue to exist, | conclude that Taylor's
concern about the presence of outby transportation was
reasonable. As a general rule, a mner's safety inquiry, like a

m ner's work refusal, nust adequately apprise the operator of the
nature of the feared hazard and nust be reasonabl e under the
circunstances of the case. It nust also be made in good faith.
See e.g., Secretary on behalf of Pratt v. River Hurricane Coa
Conmpany, Inc., 5 FMSHRC 1529, 1533-34 (Septenber, 1983).

Taylor's inquiry regarding outby transportation was direct
and under standabl e, as witnessed by the fact that at no tinme did
Smart maintain that he was confused about what Tayl or was asking
or uncertain as to what Taylor meant. Further, and as noted
above, the fact that Taylor reasonably believed the entry was
bl ocked |l eads ne to credit Taylor's testinony that he was
concerned that if a mner was injured, transportati on would not
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be available to quickly remove an injured nminer fromthe m ne
Taylor's history as a former m ne safety conmtteeman and his
unrefuted testinony regarding the unreliability of the nmine's
under ground tel ephones on June 18, in ny view, makes it |ogica

t hat Tayl or woul d have been concerned about assuring as swift an
exit fromthe mne as possible for an injured mner. Thus, |
conclude that Taylor, in good faith, inquired of Smart regarding
the presence of outby transportation, and that when he did so, he
engaged in protected activity. (FOOTNOTE 11)

ADVERSE ACTI ON AND MOTI VATI ON

Tayl or was suspended for four days and was so advi sed
formally by letter on June 20, 1991. Koonce and Smart nmai ntai ned
that Tayl or was suspended both for refusing a direct order to
return to work and for abusing and threatening Smart. Tr. 23, 25,
28, 30, 32, 35, 49-50, 182-183, 192. These reasons were al so
given in the formal Notice of Suspension. Exh. C-1. The testinony
of Taylor and Smart is in agreement that this adverse action
al t hough confirmed on June 20, was instituted on June 18, when
Smart stopped Taylor's tinme.

At issue is whether the suspension was notivated in any part
by Taylor's protected behavior? To answer the question it is
necessary to viewin total the events surrounding the incident of
June 18. On that date neither Taylor nor Smart net as strangers.
They had conme to know one another on June 17. | credit Koonce's
opi nion that Taylor was concerned about the Zeigler buy-out of
A d Ben and about Smart's know edge of mining operations at M ne
No. 24. Tr. 19-20. | also believe it true that Taylor's | ow
regard for the Ziegler managenent personnel lead directly to his
comments on June 17 regarding Smart's direction of the | ongwal
set up and to the subsequent oral exchange between the two of
them Whether Tayl or purposefully pinned Smart between the rib
and the scoop, or whether it was inadvertent -- Smart admitted he
had put hinself in a bad position -- it seens certain that Tayl or
and Smart regarded one another with sone degree of hostility when
they next net on June 18.

Thus, it may well be that on June 18, when Tayl or inquired
about outby transportation, in addition to being concerned about
his safety and that of his fellow m ners, he was also trying to
aggravate Smart. However, and this is the essential point, even
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if Taylor had an ulterior notive, he also had a good faith,
reasonabl e belief that the situation in which he found hinself
presented a possible danger to his and to others' safety. Thus,
his questions regardi ng outby transportation were, under the
circunstances in which he found hinself, perfectly proper, and it
was Smart's duty to nmeaningfully respond to the specific concerns
expressed by Tayl or.

Communi cation of safety hazards and responses thereto are a
means by which the Mne Act's purposes are attained, and once a
reasonabl e, good faith concern is expressed by a mner, an
operator, usually acting through its on-the-scene managenent
personnel, has an obligation to address the perceived danger
Boswel | v. National Cenent Co., 14 FMSHRC 253, 258 (February
1992); Secretary on behalf of Pratt v. River Hurricane Coa
Conmpany, Inc., 5 FMSHRC 1529, 1534 (Septenber 1983); Secretary of
Labor v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 226, 230 (February
1984), aff'd sub nom Brock v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 766
F.2d 469 (11th Cir. 1985). Moreover, the operator nust address
the mner's concern in such a way that the niner's fears
reasonably should be quelled. Glbert v. FMSHRC, 866 F.2d 1433,
1441 (D.C. Cir. 1989). If the operator does not address the
percei ved danger and disciplines the miner, "it does so at its
own legal risk." Metric Constructors, 6 FMSHRC at 230.

Smart did not nmeet his obligation to nmeaningfully respond to
Taylor's inquiry. Both Taylor and Parkhill creditably testified
that Smart did not respond to Taylor's questions regardi ng outby
transportati on. Even under Smart's version of the exchange --
that he ordered Taylor back to work and told Taylor that the
travel way was no | onger blocked -- Smart's response was patently
i nadequate. A statenent that, "The travelway is no | onger
bl ocked. " (Tr. 182) or that, "The road's clear now." (Tr. 183),
cannot be equated to the kind of comrunicative response
envi si oned under the Act. Mreover, Smart's statenents appear to
have been nmade after the travel way was opened and after the
factual basis for Taylor's concern had ceased to exist.

VWile it is conceivable that there are circunstances that
could mtigate an operator's duty to neaningfully respond; for
exanpl e, instances in which adverse m ne conditions preclude an
i medi ate safety-related di scussion or in which an operator may

reasonably fear his response will trigger a overtly adverse
reaction on the part of his questioner, the obligation to respond
to reasonable, good faith safety concerns is -- at least in ny
view -- so inportant to the goals and purposes of the M ne Act
that | can envision recognizing its mtigation only in the nost
extraordi nary of circunstances -- circunstances that do not exist
here. |1 conclude that Tayl or has established that he was

suspended because he engaged in protected activity.
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AFFI RMATI VE DEFENSE

O d Ben argues that even if Taylor's inquiry about the
availability of outby transportation constituted protected
activity he was not disciplined for asking questions but for
refusing an order to return to work, insubordination and using
threateni ng | anguage and that O d Ben established an affirnmative
defense by proving that it was notivated entirely by this
unprotected conduct. | do not agree.

As | have found, Smart's response to Taylor's inquiries was
i nsufficient under the Act. Mreover, it colored all that
foll owed, for subsequent to Smart's failure to meaningfully
respond, the situation deteriorated. Koonce maintained that
Taylor told Smart he would go to the nmanbus "whenever he felt
good and G D ready". Tr. 21, See also Tr. 28. Smart's version is
that Taylor said he would go back to the manbus when he got "a
goddanm answer." Tr. 183. Taylor asserted that he did not refuse
a direct order to return to work because his work assignnent
required himto proceed inby on the nmanbus, and the entry being
bl ocked, he could not do so.

Smart's testinmony in this regard is nore detailed than
Taylor's and is, in ny opinion, nore believable. (FOOTNOTE 12)
Thus, | find that Taylor did, in fact, refuse to return to the
manbus until he got "a Goddam answer" and even after being told that
the entry had been cleared. | also credit Smart's testinony that
Tayl or held his hands up in Smart's face in a prayer-1like fashion
and asked, in effect, that he be suspended fromwork. | further
find that after Parkhill left, the conversation becane nore
heated, with Taylor telling Smart the lack of transportation
outby could "nmean his [nmeaning Taylor's] goddamm |ife" and that
Smart "had f__ked with the wong person,” and Tayl or ought to
"knock [Smart's] ass off." Tr. 189.(FOOTNOTE 13) | do not, however,
credit Smart's testinony that Taylor told him "You're in this
mne |ike the rest of us, and things can happen down here to you
. or it can happen at hone to your famly." Tr. 190. Tayl or
deni ed maki ng such threats and Smart's version was not
corroborated by Ronchetto, the first person from management with
whom Snart spoke after the "threats.” In recounting his
conversation with Smart, Ronchetto could recall being told only
that Smart had st opped
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Taylor's time because the two had gotten into a dispute and
Tayl or had refused Smart's orders to return to work. Tr. 138. It
is reasonable to assune that had the acting m ne manager been
told that Taylor had in this manner threatened his foreman and
the foreman's famly, Ronchetto would have renenbered it and have
recounted it. Further, while it is true that Koonce stated Smart
told him Taylor threatened Smart and his fanmly, the "abusive and
t hreat eni ng | anguage" (Exh. C-1) for which Taylor was disciplined
was, according to Koonce, in the nature of Taylor holding his
hands up to Smart in a praying fashion and pleaded with Smart to
stop his time and send himout of the m ne. Koonce al so stated
that the objectionable nature of the |anguage |ay not so nuch in
what Smart said but in "the way in which it was said and the
notions." Tr. 50.(FOOTNOTE 14)

The foll owi ng colloquy between counsel for the Secretary and
Koonce reveal s Koonce's thoughts:

Q So what was the reason for the suspension?

A. The reason for the suspension: Refusing a direct
wor k order and using threatening and abusi ve | anguage.

Q How do you know there was abusi ve | anguage?

A. M. Taylor adnmtted to doing exactly what he was
accused of .

Q What is it exactly M. Taylor told you that he said
to M. Smart?

A. During the conversation he admtted the conversation
was a heated conversation. He admitted to getting into
M. Smart's face, with his hands in a praying notion,
saying, ["]Please send nme out, please send ne out.["]

Q Is this the only thing he said to M. Smart?

A. There were some other things that, that was said
that Billy didn't admt to. M. Smart advised me that
M. Taylor had threatened his kids, to do danage to his
personal vehicle, and -- but M. Taylor didn't admt to
t hat .

Tr. 25-26, See also Tr. 19.
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Thus, while |I credit Smart's testinony that Tayl or refused an
order to return to the manbus and spoke to Smart in a heated and
at times profane manner, | view Taylor's refusal and his conments
as a direct result of Smart's failure to address in a neaningfu
way the danger Tayl or perceived. As such, they could not forma
valid basis for Taylor's suspension, and | conclude that in
disciplining Taylor, Od Ben acted "at its own legal risk."
Metric Constructors, 6 FMSHRC at 230.

Nor does Taylor's oral response to Smart's failure to
meani ngful |y respond strip protection from Taylors' safety
inquiry. Taylor's "praying" to be suspended and his telling Smart
that he (Taylor) should "knock [Smart's] ass off," were entw ned
with and the result of his protected activity. Just as in the
col l ective bargaining context, where the courts have been
reluctant to find |l anguage to be so opprobrious as to carry the
speaker "beyond the pale" of statutory protection, | do not
believe that the interest of the Act in pronoting safety-rel ated
di al ogue between miner and managenent is served by the externa
i mposition of a rigid standard of proper and civilized behavior
See Lee Crown Central Petroleum Corp. v. NLRB, 430 F.2d 724,
729-730 (5th Cir. 1970). Threatening harmto Smart and his famly
m ght well be another nmatter, but, as noted, | do not credit
Smart's testinony in this regard.

CONCLUSI ON

ACCORDI NGLY, | conclude and find that Tayl or engaged in
activity protected under the Act when he inquired of Smart
whet her there was transportation outby and that O d Ben suspended
Taylor for this activity. | further conclude and find that
Tayl or's subsequent refusal to return to the manbus and his
"abusive and threatening | anguage" toward Smart does not provide
Od Ben with a valid basis for adverse action nor renmove from
Tayl or the protection of the Act. Therefore, | hold that in
suspendi ng Taylor, O d Ben violated Section 105(c)(1) of the Act.

ORDER

1. Od Ben is ORDERED to pay Taylor within thirty (30) days
of the date of this Decision all back wages and benefits from
June 18, 1991 through June 21, 1991, with interest thereon in
accordance with the Comm ssion's Decision in Local Union 2274,
UMWA v. dinchfield Coal Co., 10 FMSHRC 1493 (COct ober 1988)
calculated proximte to the tine paynment is actually nade.

2. Od Ben is ORDERED to expunge from Tayl or's personne
records all reference to the incident of June 18, 1991, and
Tayl or' s subsequent suspension.
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3. Od Ben is ORDERED to pay to the Secretary within thirty (30)
days of the date of this Decision a civil penalty of $500.( FOOTNOTE 15)

Davi d F. Barbour
Adm ni strative Law Judge

FOOTNOTES START HERE-

1. Section 105(c)(1) of the Act provides as foll ows:
"No person shall discharge or in any manner

di scrim nate agai nst or cause to be discharged or cause
di scrim nation against or otherwise interfere with the exercise
of the statutory rights of any niner, representative of mners or
applicant for enploynent in any coal or other mne subject to
this [Act] because such mner, representative of mners or
applicant for enpl oynent, has filed or made a conpl ai nt under or
related to the [Act], including a conplaint notifying the
operator or the operator's agent, or the representative of the
m ners at the coal or other m ne of an alleged danger or safety
or health violation in a coal or other mine or because such
m ner, representative of miners or applicant for enploynent is
t he subj ect of nedical evaluations and potential transfer under a
standard published pursuant to Section [101] of this [Act] or
because such miner, representative of miners or applicant for
enpl oynment has instituted or caused to be instituted any
proceedi ngs under or related to this [Act] or has testified or is
about to testify in any such proceedi ng, or because of the
exerci se of such mner, representative of miners or applicant for
enpl oyment on behal f of himself or others of any statutory right
afforded by this [Act]."

30 U.S.C. O 815(c)(1).

2. Koonce, the superintendent of Mne No. 24 at the tinme of
the alleged discrimnmination, was subpoenaed to testify by the
Conpl ai nant .

3. Od Ben becane a subsidiary of Zeigler Holding Co. on
July 20, 1990, when Zeigler purchased all of AOd Ben's
properties. Tr. 142. The acquisition resulted in sonme changes in
managenment personnel at O d Ben's mnes, including the transfer
to Mne No. 24 of section foreman Ronald Smart, the forenman
involved in this case. Smart previously had worked for Ziegler

4. Taylor believed that he could have asked Smart about
outby transportation up to five tines. Tr. 97. In any event,
however many tines he asked, he maintained that Smart never
answered his questions.

5. On cross exam nation Taylor admitted that subsequent to
his conversation with Smart, he never spoke with the union safety
committeeman about the situation, nor to a state nine inspector
and that he contacted MSHA only after he had been handed a notice
of suspension. Tr. 86-87.



6. On cross-examn nation, Taylor stated categorically that
during the incident of June 18, he never threatened Smart. Tr.
99. However, during his direct testinony, Taylor indicated that
he and Smart had a prior run-in. According to Taylor, on June 17,
in his regular working section and while in the process of
setting up a longwall, he had observed Smart "scream ng and
holl ering" at the section foreman about the way the work was
proceedi ng. Taylor clained that he said to his hel per, "These
peopl e [ meani ng the fornmer Zeigler bosses] never saw a | ongwal

until . . . a few weeks ago, and now all of a sudden they are
experts on howto set a longwall up." Tr.73. Smart, who overheard
Tayl or, responded that he did not have to take Taylor's "abusive
| anguage” and that he would "write up" Taylor for the incident.
Tr. 73-74. Taylor claimed that Smart continued to holler at the
section boss. Taylor, who was sitting in a scoop, with his back
to the where Smart was standi ng, energized the scoop. Tayl or
claimed he did not know that Smart had noved between the rib and
the scoop. The scoop lurched toward the rib and pi nned Snart.
Smart, who was not hurt, told Taylor's section forenman that
Taylor had tried to run over him Tr.74. Taylor denied he had
tried to hit Smart or that he knew Smart was in a position where
he coul d have been endangered by the scoop. Taylor stated that he
was not reprimnded for the incident but that he found out |ater
Smart had been reprimnded for the manner in which he had
addressed the foreman. Id. This was confirnmed by Smart. Tr. 168.

7. The letter states in part:

An investigation reveals that on June 18, 1991, while
working the 4:00 P.M to 12 mdnight shift you were insubordinate
and refused a direct order to return to your assigned work after
havi ng been instructed to do so by your supervisor on at |east 2
occasi ons.

The investigation also reveals that in violation of
Conpany Rul es and Regul ati ons you used abusive and threatening
| anguage toward a supervisor and his famly.

O d Ben can not and will not condone such action
therefore, you are hereby suspended for a period of four (4)
wor ki ng days without pay (June 18, 19, 20, 21, 1991).

Exh. C1

8. Section (0)(4) states in part:

"The Enpl oyer shall provide quick and efficient neans
of transporting injured or sick Enployees fromthe nine to the
surface."

Joint Exh. 1 at 34-35.

9. Smart also stated that at the nouth of the | ongwal
section there was a crosscut that, in conjunction with an
adj acent entry, served as a "runaround” in the area where the
shi el ds were being | oaded, and that the runaround all owed the
| oading area to be by-passed if the main travel way was bl ocked.
See Tr. 177-178.

10. Smart stated that he did not respond to Taylor's inquire
about outby transportation because Tayl or would not accept his
answer that there was no transportation outby. Taylor, in Smart's
opi nion, was putting on a show for Parkhill and was | ooking for



trouble. Tr. 200.

11. Counsel for the Secretary argues that Tayl or engaged in
addi ti onal protected activity when he told Smart that the
di scussi on regardi ng outby transportati on was not over and that
it would be settled "on top" even if he had to involve the union
the state inspectors and MSHA. Because the record | acks even a
hint that Taylor's suspension was notivated in any part by his
statenent, its protected nature need not be assayed.

12. For example, Taylor, who had no trouble recalling the
events i medi ately surrounding his safety conplaint, could not
recall clasping his hands in a prayer-like manner and as nuch as
daring Smart to send himout of the mne. At nost, Taylor would
acknowl edge the "possibility" that he m ght have done it. Tr. 67,
See also Tr. 96.

13. Although the | anguage is rough, | do not find it
unusual . To understate the matter considerably, mning is not an
ice creamsocial, and blunt speech, laced with Angl o Saxon
epithets, frequently is the norm

14. Had O d Ben's managenent personnel really believed
Tayl or credibly threatened harmto Smart and to his famly, it is
hard for me to believe Taylor's discipline wiuld have been
restricted to a |limted suspension.

15. The Secretary proposed a civil penalty of $1250 for the

viol ation of Section 105(c) of the Act. | find the proposa
excessive. | note particularly that Od Ben had no prior
viol ati ons of Section 105(c) in the 24 nmonths prior to this
violation. | further conclude that Smart, although negligent in

failing to respond to Taylor's inquiry, did not deliberately act
in derogation of Taylor's Section 105(c) rights.



